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Report by the manager

General information 

Legal aspects 
Robeco Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fund (the “fund”) is an open fund for joint account established in the Netherlands. The fund is 

formed from the fund assets that are pooled from deposits made by participants, entitling them to a participation in the fund assets. On 

the basis of Section 28 of the Dutch Corporation Tax Act, the fund has the status of a fiscal investment company. This means that 0% 

corporation tax is due, providing that, after the deduction of costs, the fund makes its profit available for distribution to participants in the 

form of dividend within eight months of the close of the financial year and satisfies any other relevant regulations. 

Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. (“RIAM”) is the fund manager. In this capacity, RIAM handles the asset management, 

administration and marketing and distribution of the fund. RIAM has a license from the AIFMD within the meaning of Section 2:65 of 

the Wft. In addition, RIAM is licensed as a manager of UCITS (2:69b Wft, the Dutch Financial Supervision Act), which includes 

managing individual assets and giving advice on financial instruments. RIAM is subject to supervision by the Dutch Authority for the 

Financial Markets (Stichting Autoriteit Financiële Markten, “AFM”). 

The assets of the fund are held in custody by J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A., Amsterdam Branch. J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg 

S.A., Amsterdam Branch is appointed as the custodian of the fund as referred to in Section 4:62n Wft. The custodian is responsible for 

supervising the fund insofar as required under and in accordance with the applicable legislation. The manager, the fund and J.P. Morgan 

Bank Luxembourg S.A., Amsterdam Branch have concluded a custody agreement. The fund is subject to statutory supervision by the 

AFM. The fund has been entered in the register as specified in Section 1:107 of the Wft.  

Robeco
When ‘Robeco’ is mentioned it means RIAM as well as the activities of other companies that fall within the scope of Robeco’s 

management. 

Supervision by the Supervisory Board of Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. 
The Supervisory Board of Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. supervises the funds under management. During the meetings of

the Supervisory Board, attention was paid, among other things, to developments in the financial markets and the performance of the

funds.

Based on periodic reports, the Supervisory Board discussed the results of the funds with the policy makers of the manager. These

discussions focused on the investment results, the development of assets under management as a result of market movements and the net 

inflow of new money as well as operational matters. 

In the meetings of the Audit & Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board, the interim financial reports and the reports of the independent 

auditor were regularly on the agenda. In addition, risk management, incident management and the tax position were discussed. The

quarterly reports from internal audit, compliance, legal affairs and risk management were also discussed. Attention was also paid to fund 

governance and compliance with the principles that Robeco has established in order to secure a careful handling of (potential) conflicts 

of interest between RIAM as a fund manager and the investors in the funds. The following subjects were on the agenda, among others:

an annual report of fund governance related monitoring activities prepared by the Compliance department, the Audit Report of KPMG

and the annual reports and semi-annual reports of the funds. The Supervisory Board has determined that Robeco's principles for fund

governance are applied. 

Market Impact Covid-19 
Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. considers the COVID-19 (Corona) Pandemic as a significant event after closing the 

Annual Reports 2019 of the Investment Funds under management. The impact of the pandemic on people, companies and the economy 

at large cannot be assessed in full depth at this stage. However, the impact may have a downward effect on the performance. Measures to 

mitigate the immediate operational risks are in place. Additional measures are dependent on our own assessments and the response of the 

authorities. 

Our operational measures for business continuity 
In response to the Covid-19 outbreak, Robeco is constantly monitoring the latest developments and has taken all measures necessary to 

manage the situation and to ensure business continuity. Our operational measures and capabilities are such that Robeco remains fully 

functional in managing client portfolios and serving clients. Our systems and platforms are designed to enable our staff, most of whom 

are working from home, to operate as normal. Our approach is one of vigilance and flexibility, allowing us to implement new or revised 

measures smoothly and as necessary to ensure the health and safety of our staff while maintaining business continuity. 

Outsourcing some of the operational activities to J.P. Morgan 
Early 2018, Robeco announced that it would be outsourcing part of its operations and administration activities to J.P. Morgan. The

decision to outsource is part of the Robeco’s strategic plan for the 2017-2021 period, which envisages further international growth in 

both investment and client servicing activities. In the course of 2018,  J.P. Morgan became Robeco’s service provider for fund 

accounting, operations, custody, depositary and securities lending, in two phases. In April 2019, J.P. Morgan also became Robeco’s 

transfer agent for all funds.  
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Report by the manager (continued) 

General information (continued) 

Issuance and repurchase of participating units 
The issuance and repurchasing of participating units is possible exclusively through the fund in accordance with the terms set out in the 

Terms and Conditions of Management and Custody. For entry into the fund or for an increase in participation or for full or partial 

redemption of the participation, the manager will charge a fee on the deposit or cancellation value to cover the associated transaction 

costs. These fees will accrue to the fund. The fee thus determined can be requested from the manager. The maximum current surcharge 

or discount is 0.55%. 

Terms and Conditions for Management and Custody
The Terms and Conditions of Management and Custody of Robeco Institutional Emerging Markets Fund can be obtained from the fund's

address.

Key figures 

Overview 2015 - 2019                     

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 Average 

Performance in % based on:     

– Net asset value 1 28.1  -12.0 21.8 16.2 -3.6 9.0 

– MSCI Emerging Markets Index (net 

return, in EUR) 2
20.6  -10.3 20.6 14.5 -5.2 7.2

    

Dividend 3 2.82 2.34 3.36 1.87 1.61 

Total net assets 4 1,310 975 1,120 1,070 966 

1 Any dividends distributed in any year are assumed to have been reinvested in the fund. 
2 The exchange rates of World Market Reuters are used to make the currency conversion. 
3 The dividend relates to the reporting year mentioned and is distributed in the following year. 2019 concerns a proposal. Further information on the proposed dividend can be found in 

the section Proposed profit appropriation on page 34. 
4 In millions of euros. 

General introduction 

Financial market environment 
2019 has been a paradoxical year for financial markets; stellar performances for equity and fixed income in an uncertain global

environment. The global economy in 2019 continued on the path of decelerating expansion that emerged in late 2018 on the back of

skyrocketing geopolitical uncertainty. Persisting trade disputes between the US and China, the twists and turns around Brexit, protests in 

Hong Kong and an increasingly tribal political landscape in the US created an environment tough to navigate for global leaders and 

investors alike. Global trade volumes declined below trend as retaliatory rounds of tariffs were put in place by the US and China, 

especially hitting open, export-oriented economies with a strong manufacturing base. The deceleration in global economic growth was 

therefore mainly concentrated in the manufacturing sector while the services sector remained fairly resilient. As 2019 unfolded, a 

domestic slowdown in China spilled over to the European continent, notably the German economy where Germany’s car industry was 

already facing a difficult transition towards cleaner forms of mobility. As a result, Germany narrowly escaped a technical recession in 

2019. Overall, global activity remained in expansion, with the global growth forecast reaching 2.9% in 2019 (IMF estimate).   

Despite record high levels of geopolitical risk, equity returns have been stellar over 2019, with the MSCI World unhedged in euro

returning 27.5%. It was also one of the best since the financial crisis for fixed-income returns. There was a significant dovish shift in 

Federal Reserve policy, which led to increased demand for both interest-rate and risk markets. Because of the Fed’s pause, followed by 

rate cuts in the second half of the year, the environment remained supportive throughout 2019. Global government bonds (hedged to

euro) returned 4% while at the same time global corporate credit bonds (hedged to euro) returned 8.5%. 

Global economic growth disappointed with regard to consensus expectations and slowed from 3.6% in 2018 to a notably lower pace of

3%. Alongside a slowdown in external demand, this softening in global activity was mainly due to a deterioration in global investment 

expenditures, as signs of fading multilateralism and international cooperation weakened CEO confidence to undertake new global 

investment projects. In advanced economies, capital expenditures slowed from 2.6% in 2018 to 1.8% in 2019 (IMF estimate), 

concentrated in the US. In conjunction with lower investment demand, aggregate demand from the consumer side advanced at a lower

rate of growth as well in 2019.
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Report by the manager (continued) 

General introduction (continued) 

Financial market environment (continued) 
Even as this period of US economic expansion has now become the longest post-WWII, consumption growth has remained significantly

below the average growth rate observed during previous US expansion phases. This is partly due to a significant household deleveraging 

post great financial crisis. Another element is that economic growth has become less inclusive. Especially those with the highest

marginal propensity to spend have missed out on the rising economic tide. US nominal wage growth has picked up to around 3% but

given that the US unemployment rate at 3.5% signals that the US is experiencing the tightest labor market in the past 50 years, this level 

is still subdued. In most advanced economies, employment numbers have increased (though overall at a more modest pace compared to 

2018) and unemployment rates are now close to or at cyclical lows. Household demand remains underpinned by a rising trend in real

disposable incomes, increased housing wealth and generally low interest rates.  

Despite higher import tariffs in some countries, global inflation remained muted. As the global manufacturing slowdown led to higher 

inventory-to-sales ratios, capacity utilization rates came down and as a result core inflation decelerated further below target for many 

advanced economies and emerging markets. In the US, core PCE inflation (which excludes changes in consumer food and energy prices) 

remained at 1.6%, below the symmetrical inflation target of 2% of the Fed. Inflation is increasingly influenced by global factors such as 

global commodity prices, global slack, exchange rates and producer price competition.  

In the UK, the twists and turns in the debate around Brexit continued to be as relentless as they were in 2018, until Boris Johnson 

convincingly won the December general election. The UK Prime Minister showed his intention to move the UK out of the EU by end of 

January 2020 by signing the EU withdrawal bill. He also indicated he would limit the transitional period and not to seek an extension of 

the UK’s transition away from the EU beyond 31 December 2020. Given the challenging timetable the UK government has set itself, the 

UK will likely negotiate a minimum trade deal, concentrating on the trade in goods. As Johnson may opt to remove the self-imposed 31 

December 2020 deadline, the chances of a no-deal ‘hard’ Brexit by the end of 2020 have diminished, but not vanished altogether.   

In China and other emerging markets, weakness in domestic consumer spending dominated the deterioration in external demand. 

Chinese economic growth slowed to 6.1% in 2019. Debt, deleveraging and demographics are three key words influencing China’s 

domestic policy agenda. Policy makers are undertaking a difficult balancing act to keep near-term growth around the 6% target while 

also trying to remove excess leverage (overall non-financial corporate debt is around 250% of GDP) to keep the economy on a 

sustainable longer-term path. China’s rapidly ageing society is also hampering its long-term potential growth.  

Financial Market Environment Q1 2020 
The first quarter of 2020 will be the focus of many future financial history books. Initially, the first weeks of 2020 got off to a promising 

start. The long-anticipated signing of a “phase 1” trade agreement between China and the US took place on January 15th while global 

leading indicators surprised to the upside and confirmed expansion of economic activity. In the second half of January, however, these 

signals of reflation (increasing global growth towards trend level) were completely overshadowed by rising concerns over the outbreak 

of a coronavirus starting in Wuhan, which the WHO eventually named “Covid-19”.  On January 23th, China started a drastic, but 

effective lockdown of the city of Wuhan and other cities in the Hubei area to contain the virus. Still, Covid-19 had already crossed 

borders; the WHO declared Covid-19 a pandemic on March 11th. By March 31st, Covid-19 had exponentially spread to at least 163 

countries with 858,361 people infected, causing 42,309 deaths.  

Many countries followed the example set by China in containing the spread of Covid-19. As a result of increasing lockdowns and social 

distancing measures, the global economy has come to a sudden stop, leaving a global recession inevitable at this juncture. Covid-19 has 

delivered a simultaneous negative supply-as well as demand shock. In addition, social distancing measures aggravate the impact of the 

oil supply glut that erupted after OPEC+ negotiations about oil production cuts failed.  

Leading producer confidence indicators already plummeted in March to 2008 recession lows. Markets now (rightly) infer a Q2 global

GDP collapse not seen in the post-WWII era. Another clue in this direction are the staggering weekly jobless claims numbers (+10

million) in the US. The latest March jobless claims statistic was already exactly 10.0 times the highest number observed during the GFC 

recession.

Earlier in March, the Fed swiftly lowered its conventional policy rate from 1.75% to 0.25% and expanded its balance sheet by almost 

USD 1000 billion by asset purchases and repo agreements. Other central banks also pursued a “whatever it takes” strategy and undertook 

similar measures. Next to central banks, governments have pulled all the stops as well in effort to dampen the economic impact of Covid-

19. The US Congress approved an emergency fiscal stimulus package amounting to 10% of US GDP. In Europe, Germany swiftly 

approved a package worth 4.5% of GDP.  

As the above dramatic events evolved, financial markets went into a tailspin of unprecedented scale. The S&P500 index peaked on

February 19th before sliding into a bear market at the fastest pace seen since 1929, ending the longest bull market in history that began in 

March 2009. In the enormous market turbulence (a measure of implied equity volatility, the VIX, spiked above the peak level seen

during the Great financial Crisis of 2008), liquidity pressures mounted. Even safe-haven assets like US Treasuries and gold were battered 

initially as investors scrambled for cash. Eventually, haven assets recovered in the second phase of the turmoil as massive liquidity 

injections by central banks eased forced selling pressures.  
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Report by the manager (continued) 

General introduction (continued) 

Financial Market Environment Q1 2020 (continued) 
Global government bonds (hedged, EUR) generated a positive return of 4.5% in Q1 2020. Riskier fixed income asset classes with equity-

like risk characteristics suffered losses. Global high yield (hedged, EUR) lost 15.1%, whereas global investment grade bonds (hedged, 

EUR) lost 4.6%. Global equities as measured by the MSCI World index (hedged, EUR) lost 20.4% in Q1 2020. 

The first quarter of 2020 has been extraordinary. The exceptional market volatility in this quarter reflects exceptional future macro-

economic volatility. Monetary- and fiscal stimulus is important but solving the health crisis is the key priority for economic recovery. 

The Covid-19 pandemic is still with us at the time of writing this report, though the strenuous efforts undertaken by governments to 

“flatten the curve” are starting to pay off with case fatality rates in most countries decelerating. Together with the massive amount of 

fiscal-and monetary stimulus and policy measures taken (i.e. the lowering of countercyclical buffers for banks to protect the flow of 

credit to the real economy, liquidity assistance for corporates as well as wage subsidies to keep workers employed), some positives for a 

future global economic recovery have arrived at the end of March. 

Outlook for the equity markets 
We are cognizant of the fact that global growth expectations are likely to be revised even lower in light of the prolonged duration of the 

Covid-19 outbreak well into 2020 and recognize that the road to recovery will be a very erratic one and certainly not in a straight line or 

typical V-shape. We do expect a bounce in economic activity from the very depressed levels in the first half of 2020 but we also take 

notion of direct and longer lasting negative second round effects on consumption, employment and business investment despite large-

scale stimulus by central banks and governments.  

Equity investors will need to navigate two-way risk in 2020. On the upside, current equity markets have largely discounted average 

recession risk already. Although it must be noted that historically bear markets tend to last an average of 14 months. Also, the swift and 

massive intervention by central banks and governments provides a powerful counterbalance to the coming economic downturn. If history 

is a guide than equities should enter a trough midway into a recession and rally 25% in the subsequent 12 months.  

Nonetheless, we are not out of the woods yet. An important variable determining the duration and depth of bear markets is the Shiller 

CAPE at the prior market peak. Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic the US was at historically stretched valuation levels. Add to this low 

visibility on the duration of the recession and the subsequent economic recovery path, a state of denial in investor sentiment and limited 

conventional monetary policy space. Therefore, tactical equity investors should remain vigilant as additional downside risk remains. 

However for long term investors, interesting value opportunities in equities are emerging. 

Because of the very rapid developments around the Covid-19 pandemic and its impact on the worldwide economy, we refer to our 

website Robeco.com for the latest updates on our outlook for equity markets. 

Outlook for emerging markets 
We are cognizant of the fact that global growth expectations are likely to be revised even lower in light of the prolonged duration of the 

Covid-19 outbreak well into 2020 and recognize that the road to recovery will be a very erratic one and certainly not in a straight line or 

typical V-shape. We do expect a bounce in economic activity from the very depressed levels in the first half of 2020, but we also take 

notion of direct and longer lasting negative second round effects on consumption, employment and business investment despite large-

scale stimulus by central banks and governments. 

Emerging markets investors will need to navigate two-way risk in 2020. On the upside, current equity markets have largely discounted 

average recession risk already. Also, the swift and massive intervention by central banks and governments provides a powerful 

counterbalance to the coming economic downturn. The economic cycle, however, will differ a lot per region since North Asia went into 

the economic slump earlier than the rest of the world. China, Taiwan and South Korea seem for now to have a good grip on the virus and 

are opening up their economies gradually. On the other part of the spectrum, Latin America, looks to be the biggest victim, as it went 

into the crisis with lower economic growth, weaker institutions and more political instability. Valuations continue to be supportive for 

emerging markets as they still trade at a significant discount to developed markets. 

Because of the very rapid developments around the Covid-19 pandemic and its impact on the worldwide economy, we refer to our 

website Robeco.com for the latest updates on our outlook for equity markets. 

Investment policy 

Investment objective 
The fund aims to achieve a substantially higher return than the MSCI Emerging Markets index on a three to five year horizon. 

Investment policy 
The Robeco Institutional Emerging Markets Fund takes at least 90% exposure to equities and comparable financial instruments 

(including share certificates, ADRs, GDRs and NVDRs) issued by companies in emerging countries (including Hong Kong), i.e., 

companies that are established in emerging countries (including Hong Kong) or deploy most of their economic activities there, or are 

included in the MSCI Emerging Markets Standards Index.
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Report by the manager (continued) 

Investment policy (continued) 

Implementation of the investment policy 
The investment policy of Robeco's investment strategy in emerging markets has been focused since its inception in 1994 on combining 

top-down country allocation with bottom stock selection. Our country allocation is based on the analysis of macro-economic, valuation, 

earnings, technical and sentiment factors. 

In terms of country allocation the main overweight positions were South Korea, Brazil, Russia and Indonesia. The main underweight 

countries were Malaysia, Mexico, Philippines, Central Europe and Chile.

In stock selection we have a value bias. We have a preference for selecting undervalued companies where the earnings outlook is not yet 

appreciated by the market. In the cyclical sectors we were overweight upstream oil companies, cement and chemical companies, while

being underweight in industrial companies. In the consumer sector we preferred well positioned consumer discretionary companies,

while being underweight in expensive consumer staples. We were underweight in expensive internet companies and were overweight in

IT hardware companies. During the year we sold our position in Beijing Capital Airport on the back of deteriorating corporate 

governance (the G in ESG), as we see an increasing risk of the parent company abusing its position in relation to the company.

Currency policy 
Robeco Institutional Emerging Markets Fund invests in equities and comparable financial instruments issued in different currencies from 

emerging countries and developed countries (including the US dollar). The currency in which the financial instruments are issued can 

diverge from the currency in which the actual – underlying – risk is run. Country positioning therefore provides a better picture of the 

underlying currency risk than the currency in which the instrument is issued. Currency risk is limited by restricting the underweight or 

overweight for countries to a maximum of 10% versus the index weight. The fund can make use of forward exchange contracts to limit 

currency risk. 

Investment result 

Net result per participating unit 1                 

EUR x 1 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 

Investment income 3.74 3.10 3.23 2.46 2.45 

Change in value 27.64 -16.69 20.24 13.09 -4.78 

Management and other costs -1.03 -1.01 -0.99 -0.79 -0.87 

Net result 30.35 -14.60 22.48 14.76 -3.20 

          
1 Based on the average amount of participating units outstanding during the reporting year. The average number of participating units is calculated on a daily basis. 

The MSCI Emerging Markets index increased by  20.61%, underperforming the developed markets index. The Fund outperformed the 

index by 8.52% in 2019. The outperformance was driven by both country allocation and stock selection. In country allocation, the

overweight positions in Brazil and Russia together with the underweight positions in Malaysia, Saudi Arabia and Poland were the main 

contributors to the country allocation. The overweight positions in Indonesia and Peru were the main detractors from the performance. 

Stock selection had a significant positive contribution to the performance. Stock selection in China, South Korea, Brazil, Taiwan and 

South Africa added the most to the relative performance. Stock selection in Russia and Thailand detracted from the performance.

Return and risk 
The investment result is important, but risk management of the portfolio is important as well. The portfolio's tracking error was on 

average 2.2% throughout the year. A tracking error of 2.2% means that the portfolio has a probability of 68% of attaining future

performance that deviates no more than 2.2% from the index (up or down). The Robeco Institutional Emerging Markets Fund is an 

actively managed fund. The portfolio is characterized by an active weight (not overlapping the index) of around 70% in 2019. The

portfolio's beta was on average close to 1.1. In general terms, in a bull market, a portfolio with a beta of above 1 will have a higher return 

then the market. 

Risk management 

A description of the risk management can be found in the notes to the financial statements on pages 20 through 28. 
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Report by the manager (continued) 

Movements in net assets 

During the reporting period the net assets of Robeco Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds rose by EUR 335.2 million to EUR 1,309.8 

million. This increase can be explained by the following items. On balance, stocks to the amount of EUR 73.5 million were issued. The 

net result increased these assets by EUR 282.8 million. EUR 21.1 million was distributed in dividend. 

Survey of movements in net assets 

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Assets at opening date 974,547 1,119,510

Participating units issued 83,307 58,225

Participating units purchased (9,770) (49,513)

Situation on closing date 1,048,084 1,128,222

Direct investment income 34,830 27,398

Indirect investment income 257,559 (147,630)

Cancellation and placement fees – 242

Costs (9,573) (8,870)

Net result 282,816 (128,860)

Dividend payments (21,113) (24,815)

Assets at closing date 1,309,787 974,547

Remuneration policy 

The fund itself does not employ any personnel and is managed by RIAM. In the Netherlands, persons performing duties for the fund at 

management-board level and portfolio managers are employed by Robeco Nederland B.V. The remuneration for these persons comes out

of the management fee. RIAM’s remuneration policy, that applies to all staff working under RIAM’s responsibility, meets the applicable 

requirements of the European frameworks of the AIFMD, MiFID, the UCITS Directive, the ESMA guidelines on sound  remuneration 

policies under the UCITS Directive, as well as the Dutch Remuneration Policy (Financial Enterprises) Act (Wet beloningsbeleid 

financiële ondernemingen). The remuneration policy has the following objectives: 

a) To stimulate employees to act in the best interests of clients and avoid taking undesirable risks. 

b) To promote a healthy corporate culture, with a strong focus on sustainable results in accordance with the long-term objectives 

of RIAM and its stakeholders. 

c) To attract and retain good staff and to reward talent and performance fairly. 

Responsibility for the remuneration policy 
The Supervisory Board of RIAM supervises the correct application of the remuneration policy and is responsible for the annual 

evaluation. Changes in the remuneration policy have to be approved by the Supervisory Board of RIAM. The Nomination & 

Remuneration Committee of the Supervisory Board of RIAM provides advice to the Supervisory Board of RIAM in the execution of 

these tasks, with the involvement of the HR Department and the relevant internal control officers. In the application and evaluation of the 

remuneration policy, RIAM regularly makes use of the services of various external advisers. The remuneration of fund managers consists 

of a fixed component and a variable component. 

Fixed remuneration 
The fixed salary of each employee is based on his/her role and experience and is in accordance with the RIAM salary ranges, which have 

also been derived from benchmarks in the investment management sector. The fixed salary is deemed to be adequate remuneration for 

the employee to properly execute their responsibilities, regardless of whether the employee receives any variable remuneration.

Variable remuneration 
In accordance with the applicable laws and regulations, the available budget/pool for variable remuneration is approved in advance by 

the Supervisory Board of RIAM based on a proposal made by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the Supervisory Board of 

RIAM. The total budget/pool is based, in principle, on a percentage of RIAM's operating result. In order to ensure that the total variable 

remuneration accurately reflects the performance of RIAM and the funds that it manages, when determining the budget/pool, a correction 

is made for risks that may occur in the year concerned and furthermore for multiple-year risks that may affect the risk profile of RIAM. 
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Report by the manager (continued) 

Remuneration policy (continued) 

Variable remuneration (continued) 
The variable remuneration component for the fund managers depends on the multi-year performance of the fund. The system is linked to 

outperformance with regard to risk-adjusted pre-determined annual targets. The calculated outperformance over a one-year, three-year 

and five-year period is taken into account when determining the variable remuneration. Also important in this determination are

behavior, the extent to which team- and individual qualitative and predetermined objectives have been achieved and the extent to which 

Robeco corporate values are observed. The fund manager’s contribution to the various organizational objectives is also taken into

consideration. Poor performance, unethical or non-compliant behavior will reduce individual awards or can even result in no variable 

remuneration being awarded at all. For the senior fund manager, the Identified Staff regime also applies (see below). 

Identified Staff 
RIAM has a specific and more stringent remuneration policy for employees who could have a material impact on the risk profile of the 

fund. These employees are designated to be 'Identified Staff'. For 2019, in addition to the Management Board, RIAM has designated 99 

employees as Identified Staff, including all senior portfolio managers, senior management and the heads of the control functions (HR, 

Compliance, Risk Management, Business Control, Internal Audit and Legal). Among other things the performance targets of these 

employees that are used to determine the award of variable pay are subject to additional risk analyses, both prior to the performance year 

and at the end when the results are evaluated. In addition, in all cases at least 70% of the payment of variable remuneration granted to 

these employees will be deferred for a period of four years, and 50% will be converted into instruments (‘Robeco Cash Appreciation 

Rights’)  whose value will follow the company's future results.  

Risk control 
RIAM has implemented additional risk management measures with regard to the variable remuneration. For instance, RIAM has the 

possibility with regard to all employees to reclaim the granted variable remuneration ('claw-back') when this has been based on incorrect 

assumptions, fraudulent acts, serious improper behavior, serious neglect of duties or behavior that has resulted in a considerable loss for 

RIAM. After the granting but before the actual payment of the deferred variable remuneration components to Identified Staff, an

additional assessment is performed to check whether new information would result in decreasing the previously granted remuneration 

components (the so-called ‘malus arrangement’). The malus arrangement can be applied because of (i) misconduct or a serious error of 

judgement on the part of the employee (ii) a considerable deterioration of RIAM's financial results that was not foreseen at the time the 

remuneration was granted (iii) a serious violation of the risk management system, leading to changed circumstances compared with the 

granting of the variable remuneration or (iv) fraud committed by the employee concerned. 

Annual assessment 
RIAM's remuneration policy and the application thereof was evaluated in 2019 under the responsibility of the Supervisory Board of 

RIAM, advised by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the Supervisory Board of RIAM. As a result no material changes were

necessary to the remuneration policy. 

Remuneration in 2019 
Of the total amounts granted in remuneration1 in 2019 to the group's Board, Identified Staff and Other Employees, the following amounts 

are to be assigned to the fund: 

Remuneration in EUR x 1         

Staff category Fixed pay for 2019 Variable pay for 2019 

Board (4 members)                    16,459                      18,825  

Identified Staff (99) (ex Board)                  157,588                    104,721  

Other employees (655 employees)                  428,379                    121,202  

The total of the fixed and variable remuneration charged to the fund is EUR 847,174. Imputation occurs according to the following key: 

Total remuneration (fixed and variable) x 
Total fund assets 

Total assets under management (RIAM) 

The fund itself does not employ any personnel and has therefore not paid any remuneration above EUR 1 million. 

1 The remunerations relate to activities performed for one or more Robeco entities. 

Remuneration manager 
The manager (RIAM) has paid to 3 employees a total remuneration above EUR 1 million. 
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Report by the manager (continued) 

Sustainable investing 

Sustainable investing is one of the main pillars of Robeco's strategy and is firmly anchored in our investment convictions. We are 

convinced that including ESG1 factors leads to better investment decisions. We are also convinced that exercising our voting rights and 

engaging in a dialogue with companies have a positive effect on the investment result and society in general. During 2019, we made

every effort to further stimulate Sustainable investing at Robeco and beyond.  

All Robeco’s investment activities comply with the United Nations Principles for Responsible Investing (UNPRI). In 2019, Robeco was 

awarded an A+ for most of the modules that were assessed as part of the UN Principles for Responsible Investment (UN PRI) 2019 

report. This was the sixth year in a row that Robeco obtained the highest score for the majority of the modules assessed by UNPRI. 

Responsibility for implementing Sustainable investing lies with the Head of Investments, who also has a seat on Robeco's Executive

Committee. 

1 ESG is the abbreviation of ‘Environmental, Social and Governance’, which refers to factors relating to the environment, society and corporate governance. 

Focus on stewardship
Fulfilling our responsibilities in the field of stewardship forms an integral part of Robeco's approach to Sustainable investing. A core 

aspect of Robeco's mission is fulfilling our fiduciary duties towards our clients and beneficiaries. Robeco manages investments for a 

variety of clients with different investment needs. We always strive in everything we do to serve our clients interests to the best of our 

ability.  

In our view, the fact that more and more stewardship codes are being introduced around the globe is a positive development, and we are 

strong advocates of active ownership. For this reason we publish our own stewardship policy on our website. This policy describes how 

we deal with possible conflicts of interest, how we monitor the companies in which we invest, how we conduct activities in the field of 

engagement and voting, and how we report on our stewardship activities.  

To mark our strong commitment to stewardship, we have become signatories to many different stewardship codes. In 2018 Eumedion,

the Dutch governance platform for institutional investors, published a Dutch stewardship code. Robeco was a participant in the working 

group that wrote this code. In previous years we became signatories to the stewardship codes of the United Kingdom, Japan and Brazil.

In addition, Robeco a.o. meets the Taiwanese Stewardship Principles for Institutional Investors, the US ISG stewardship principles, the 

Principles for Responsible Ownership in Hong Kong, Singapore Stewardship Principles and the Korean Stewardship Code. 

Contributing to the Sustainable Development Goals
Robeco is a signatory in the Netherlands to the Sustainable Development Goals Investing Agenda. To help our customers contribute to 

the objectives, we worked on analyzing the SDG2 contribution of companies and developing SDG investment solutions. Currently 

multiple solutions are available both in equity and fixed income and the amount of assets that are managed in line with this SDG

methodology is increasing rapidly. 

Furthermore, Robeco contributes to the SDGs by integrating ESG factors in its decision-making process for investments and encourages 

companies to act in support of these goals by means of a constructive dialogue. The SDGs are continually considered during the 

engagement and voting activities. These therefore present the opportunity to emphasize the effect that engagement can have on society. 

Robeco’s Active Ownership team would like new themes to always be directly linked to at least one of the goals. In 2019 we started 

engaging with companies for example on Palm Oil, directly linked to SDG 12 and 15, with a clear objective to improve the Roundtable 

on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO) certification and mitigate deforestation. 

2 Sustainable Development Goals 

ESG integration by Robeco
Sustainability can bring about changes in markets, countries and companies in the long term. And since changes affect future 

performance, ESG factors can in our view add value to our investment process. We therefore look at these factors in the same way as we 

consider a company's financial position or market momentum. We have research available from leading sustainability experts, including 

our sister company RobecoSAM. The dedicated Sustainable Investing research team works together very closely with the investment

teams to provide them with in-depth sustainability information. 

The investment analysis focuses on the most material ESG factors and the connection with the financial performance of a company. We 

can then focus on the most relevant information in performing our investment-analysis and can reach enhanced investment decisions.

Besides integrating ESG, Active Ownership and exclusions into all of our investment processes, in 2019 we continued developing new 

sustainable investment funds with specific sustainable goals and criteria. Furthermore we measured carbon footprints and climate change 

risks in our portfolios in order to gain more insight and create awareness. 
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Report by the manager (continued) 

Sustainable investing (continued) 

Exclusion
Robeco pursues an exclusion policy for companies that are involved in the production of or trade in controversial weapons such as

cluster munition and anti-personnel mines, for tobacco companies and for companies that seriously and habitually violate either the 

United Nations Global Compact (UNGC) or OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises. We apply strict criteria for this last 

category and if a dialogue fails the company will be excluded. Robeco publishes its exclusion policy and the list of exclusions on its 

website. In 2019 Robeco developed a palm oil policy. Robeco considers the production of palm oil a process with significant 

environmental and social risks, leading to breaches of the UN Global Compact when this product is not produced sustainably. Listed

companies that have less than 20% of their plantations certified to sustainability standards are excluded from fund investments. Other 

palm oil producing companies are part of an engagement program where Robeco requires them to make progress towards full RSPO 

certification and addresses potential controversies and breaches of the UN Global compact. 

Active ownership 
Constructive and effective activities under active ownership encourage companies to improve their management of risks and 

opportunities in the field of ESG. This in turn establishes a better competitive position and improved profitability and moreover has a 

positive impact on the community. Active ownership involves voting and engagement. Robeco exercises its voting rights for the shares 

in its investment funds all over the world. In addition, Robeco enters into an active dialogue with the companies in which it invests on 

questions concerning the environment, society and corporate governance. In 2019, our activities towards achieving active ownership 

were again awarded high scores under the Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI). Robeco has Active Ownership specialists in both 

Rotterdam and Hong Kong. In 2019 Robeco engaged with over 220 companies on different issues ranging from corporate governance to

data privacy to climate change. The primary focus of this engagement is to address strategic ESG issues that might affect value creation 

in the long term. Hereafter, two 2019 case studies are provided to illustrate Robeco’s approach towards fulfilling our stewardship 

responsibilities. 

Robeco’s Active Ownership successful in engagement with the Auto Industry 

In the engagement theme ESG Challenges in the Auto Industry key elements of discussion included the alignment of companies’ 

strategies with a low-carbon future, including their ability to comply with emissions standards, and the need to focus on innovation and 

to finetune product development to make sure their future products meet client demand and regulatory requirements. Our success with a 

German carmaker is unique in a sector that struggles with the transition to a low-carbon economy. 

During a three-year engagement, the German automotive company announced its ambition to achieve net-zero emissions fleet by 2039,

and committed to carbon-neutral energy supply by 2022 in line with our request. In addition, the company is the first carmaker to tie 

quantitative metrics on sustainable mobility in the executive renumeration policy. Overall, the company’s net-zero fleet commitment is 

considered best practice in the industry.  

The engagement has taken place in collaboration with Transition Pathway Initiative (TPI) and the Institutional Investors Group on

Climate Change (IIGCC), of which Robeco co-ordinates the Advisory Committee on automotives.  

The model the company has followed is similar to the earlier success booked by Robeco’s Active Ownership team with Royal Dutch 

Shell, the first company to link climate targets to executive renumeration. 

Leading the financial sector in Palm Oil Engagement  

Early 2019, Robeco has stepped up engagement with the producers of palm oil to address sustainability issues in the industry. As a 

responsible investor, Robeco has been engaging with palm oil producers, traders and buyers on sustainability-related issues since 2010. 

Palm oil is a vital commodity that is an essential ingredient in many consumer goods, from chocolates to shampoo. As the most land-

efficient and versatile vegetable oil, its cultivation as a cash crop is highly profitable. 

However, the industry continues to face significant problems related to deforestation, its large carbon footprint, and labor standards in 

emerging markets. Robeco’s new approach to address these problems is a combination of enhanced engagement and sustainability 

investing methodology. 

With enhanced engagement, we formulate minimum standards that companies need to meet after three years of engagement to ensure 

eligibility in our investment universe. For the methodology, Robeco now conducts a sector screen that benchmarks companies according 

to the amount of land that has been certified by RSPO a not-for-profit group that Robeco joined in January as the first investor.  

Robeco plays an active role in multiple collaborations regarding palm oil, strongly believing in the premise that we are stronger together. 

Within the RSPO, Robeco is member of the Financial Institutions working group, the deforestation group as well as member of the

Complaints Panel. Within the PRI Robeco is part of the advisory committee of the Engagement working groups related to Deforestation,

Labor Standards in Agricultural supply chain, and Palm Oil.  Last, Robeco joined the Sustainable Palm Oil Choice to contribute to the 

transition to 100% sustainable palm oil in Europe. 
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Sustainable investing (continued) 

Voting
In 1998, Robeco started voting for its investment funds and on behalf of its institutional clients. The votes are cast by specialized voting 

analysts in the Active Ownership team. We attend several shareholder meetings ourselves, but in most cases we cast our votes 

electronically. Our voting activities are published shortly after the shareholders’ meetings on our website, in line with best practice 

regarding voting transparency.  

Our extensive voting policy is based on 20 years of experience and insight, and we anticipate the specific policy requests of our 

mandates if necessary. We vote at all meetings where this is possible. In practice, we only refrain from voting in the event of share 

blocking. In such cases, we assess the importance of the meeting and the influence of our positions on the voting.  

Our voting policy and our analysis are based on the internationally accepted principles of the International Corporate Governance 

Network (ICGN) and on local directives. These principles constitute an extensive framework for assessing the corporate governance

practices of companies. They also provide sufficient latitude for companies to be assessed on the basis of local standards, national 

legislation and codes of conduct for corporate governance. In our assessment we take into account company-specific circumstances.  

Important decisions are taken in close consultation with the portfolio managers and the analysts in Robeco's investment teams and with 

our engagement specialists. The information we receive during shareholders’ meetings is taken into account in our engagement activities

and in the investment process followed by the Robeco funds.  

We voted at 119 shareholder meetings on behalf of Robeco Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds. At 68 (57%) of the 119 meetings, we 

cast at least 1 vote not in line with management's recommendation. 

Engagement
Since as early as 2005, we have encouraged management board members from the companies in which we invest to practice good 

corporate governance and to strive to achieve an environmentally and socially friendly policy. The aim of our engagement is to increase

shareholder value in the long term and to achieve a positive impact on society. For Robeco, engagement and voting are important

elements for achieving a successful integrated strategy for Sustainable investing that will lead to enhanced investment decisions and can 

improve the risk/return profile of our portfolios.  

For our engagement activities we use a focused approach in which we enter into a constructive dialogue with a relevant selection of 

companies in which we invest. This dialogue deals with ESG factors such as quality of management, human rights and management of

environmental risks. We differentiate between two types of engagement: the proactive Value Engagement approach and the Enhanced

Engagement approach following a violation of the principles of the UN Global Compact and OECD Guidelines for Multinational 

Enterprises.  

Our Value Engagement activities focus on a small number of sustainability themes with the greatest potential for value creation for the 

companies in which we invest. We select these themes on the basis of financial materiality by carrying out a baseline measurement and 

formulating engagement profiles for the companies we enter into a dialogue with. We select new engagement themes in close 

consultation with engagement specialists, portfolio managers and analysts, who work together closely throughout the dialogue. We give 

priority to companies in Robeco's portfolios with the greatest exposure to the selected engagement theme.  

Our Enhanced Engagement program focuses on companies whose actions conflict seriously and systematically with the principles of the 

United Nations Global Compact (UNGC) in the field of human rights, labor, the environment and anti-corruption and OECD Guidelines

for Multinational Enterprises. With this program we try to exert an influence on these companies to persuade them to act in accordance 

with the UNGC principles and OECD Guidelines. Our engagement normally lasts three years, during which time we hold regular 

meetings and conference calls with representatives from the company and monitor progress made on the engagement objectives.  

If an Enhanced Engagement dialogue does not lead to the desired result, Robeco can exclude this company from Robeco's investment

universe. The Enhanced Engagement process is a formal part of Robeco's exclusion policy.  

For Robeco Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds, we entered into a dialogue with 14 companies, involving 13 Value Engagements and 

1 Enhanced Engagement. 

Integration of ESG factors in investment processes 
We have adopted an ESG integrated approach in the fundamental analysis supporting both the top-down country allocation and bottom-

up stock selection. From a macroeconomic perspective, a key part of our fundamental analysis consists of comparing the economic,

political and social strengths of emerging markets countries. This evaluation includes issues such as a country's transparency, political 

stability, progress toward basic democratic principles and protection of shareholder rights. Analysis of the ESG factors can lead to a 

country risk premium in the valuation analysis of individual stocks. This implies that a country with a negative ESG profile will be 

penalized in its final valuation assessment versus a country with a better ESG profile.  
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Sustainable investing (continued) 

Integration of ESG factors in investment processes (continued) 
From a bottom-up perspective, we apply a three step approach to quantify the impact of ESG factors on a company’s valuation. The ESG 

dashboard is used as input for the ESG analysis. The ESG dashboard provides an overview of the most material ESG opportunities, risks 

and controversies that are related to a company. In addition to this, the RobecoSAM Materiality Framework is used as input. The

framework provides the team with a comprehensive overview of the most material ESG factors within an industry that can impact the 

performance of a company. Each team member analyzes and incorporates the outcome of the ESG dashboard in their investment case,

and determines how the ESG factors will impact the valuation of a company. If the ESG factor is substantial, we will for example, 

augment the weighted average cost of capital (WACC). Other input factors such as sales growth or margins can also be impacted both 

positively or negatively, reflecting risks or opportunities that ensue from a company’s score on the ESG factor. ESG performance thus 

has a concrete impact on our stock valuation.  

All of our investment cases have a dedicated ESG chapter where we assess the sustainability profile and the impact this may have on 

valuations. We do not use ESG performance as a sole reason to buy or sell a stock, but if ESG risks and opportunities are significant, the 

ESG analysis will impact a stock’s fair value assessment. 

Rotterdam, 15 May 2020 

The Manager  



Robeco Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds 15

Annual financial statements 

Balance Sheet 

Before profit appropriation                                                                                          Notes 

31/12/2019

EUR' 000

31/12/2018

EUR' 000

ASSETS 

Investments 

Equities 1 1,295,700 952,044

Derivatives 2 – 56

Total investments 1,295,700 952,100

Accounts receivable 

Receivables on securities transactions  – 231

Dividends receivable 3 4,824 3,823

Interest receivable 4 18 32

Other receivables, prepayments and accrued income 5 86 –

Total accounts receivable 4,928 4,086

Other assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 12,309 20,758

LIABILITIES 

Investments 

Derivatives 2 20 –

Accounts payable 

Payables on securities transactions  506 318

Payable to affiliated parties 8 2,469 1,943

Other liabilities, accruals and deferred income 9 155 136

Total accounts payable 3,130 2,397

Accounts receivable and other assets less accounts payable 14,107 22,447

Assets less liabilities 1,309,787 974,547

Composition of fund assets 10,11

Participants capital      10 747,643 674,106

General reserve      10 279,328 429,301

Undistributed earnings      10 282,816 (128,860)

Fund assets 1,309,787 974,547

The numbers of the items in the financial statements refer to the numbers in the Notes. 
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Annual financial statements (continued) 

Profit and loss account 

Notes

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Investment income 12 34,830 27,398

Unrealized gains 1, 2 274,684 80,609

Unrealized losses 1, 2 (33,602) (296,756)

Realized gains 1, 2 39,965 93,499

Realized losses 1, 2 (23,488) (24,982)

Cancellation and placement fees  – 242

Total operating income 292,389 (119,990)

Costs 16, 17 – –

Management fee 13 9,238 8,314

Other costs 15 335 556

Total operating expenses 9,573 8,870

Net result 282,816 (128,860)

The numbers of the items in the financial statements refer to the numbers in the Notes. 
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Cash flow statement 

Notes

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Cash flow from investment activities 

Net result  282,816 (128,860)

Unrealized changes in value 1, 2 (241,082) 216,147

Realized changes in value 1, 2 (16,477) (68,517)

Purchase of investments 1, 2 (231,605) (232,032)

Sale of investments 1, 2 145,382 242,232

Increase (-)/decrease (+) accounts receivable 3, 4, 5 (842) 91

Increase (+)/decrease (-) accounts payable 8, 9 733 (1,389)

(61,075) 27,672

Cash flow from financing activities 

Received for units subscribed  83,307 58,225

Paid for repurchase of own units  (9,770) (49,513)

Dividend paid  (21,113) (24,815)

52,424 (16,103)

Net cash flow (8,651) 11,569

Currency and cash revaluation  202 176

Increase (+)/decrease (-) cash (8,449) 11,745

– –

Cash at opening date 6 20,758 9,019

Accounts payable to credit institutions at opening date 7 – (6)

Total cash at opening date 20,758 9,013

– –

Cash at closing date 6 12,309 20,758

Total cash at closing date 12,309 20,758

The numbers of the items in the financial statements refer to the numbers in the Notes. 
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Notes

General 

The annual financial statements have been drawn up in conformity with Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Wft. The fund’s

financial year is the same as the calendar year.

Accounting principles 

General 
The financial statements are produced according to the going concern assumption. Unless stated otherwise, items shown in the financial

statements are stated at nominal value and expressed in thousands of euros. Assets and liabilities are recognized or derecognized in the 

balance sheet on the transaction date.

Financial investments 
Financial investments are classified as trading portfolio and are valued at fair value, unless stated otherwise. The fair value of stocks is 

determined on the basis of market prices and other market quotations at closing date. For forward exchange contracts, internal valuation 

models are used and the value is based on quoted currency rates and reference interest rates at closing date. Transaction costs incurred in 

the purchase and sale of investments are included in the purchase or sale price as appropriate. Transaction costs incurred in the purchase 

of investments are therefore recognized in the first period of valuation as part of the value changes in the profit and loss account. 

Transaction costs incurred in the sale of investments are part of the realized results in the profit and loss account. Changes to the 

valuation model for forward currency contracts may lead to a different valuation. Derivative instruments with a negative fair value are 

recognized under the derivatives item under investments on the liability side of the balance sheet.

Recognition and derecognition of items in the balance sheet 
Investments are recognized or derecognized in the balance sheet on the transaction date. Equities and derivatives are recognized in the 

balance sheet on the date the purchase transaction is concluded. Equities are derecognized in the balance sheet on the date the sale 

transaction is concluded. Derivatives are fully or partially derecognized in the balance sheet on the date the sales transaction is concluded 

or if the contract is settled on the expiry date. Accounts receivable and payable are recognized in the balance sheet on the date that 

contractual rights or obligations with respect to the receivables or payables arise. Receivables and payables are derecognized in the 

balance sheet when, as a result of a transaction, the contractual rights or obligations with respect to the receivables or payables no longer 

exist.

Presentation of derivatives 
Derivatives are recognized in the balance sheet at fair value. The presentation of the fair value is based on the liabilities and receivables 

per contract. The receivables are reported under assets and obligations are reported under liabilities. The value of the derivatives’ 

underlying instruments is not included on the balance sheet. Where applicable, the underlying value of derivatives is included in the 

information provided on the currency and concentration risk.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at nominal value. If cash is not freely disposable, this is factored into the valuation.

Cash expressed in foreign currencies is converted into the functional currency as at the balance sheet date at the exchange rate applicable 

on that day. Please refer to the currency table on page 35.

Accounts receivable 
Receivables are valued after initial recognition at amortized cost based on the effective interest method, less impairments. Given the 

short-term character of the receivables, the value is equal to the nominal value.

Debt 
Non-current debts and other financial obligations are valued, after initial recognition, at the amortized cost price based on the effective 

interest method. Given the short-term character of the debt, the value is equal to the nominal value.

Foreign currencies 
Transactions in currencies other than the euro are converted into euro at the exchange rates valid at the time. Assets and liabilities 

expressed in other currencies are converted into euro at the exchange rate prevailing at balance-sheet date. The exchange rate differences 

thus arising or exchange rate differences arising on settlement are recognized in the profit and loss account. Investments in foreign 

currencies are converted into euro at the rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. This valuation is part of the valuation at fair value. 

Exchange rate differences are recognized in the profit and loss account under changes in value.
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Notes (continued) 

Accounting principles (continued) 

Securities lending 
Investments for which the legal ownership has been transferred by the fund for a given period of time as a result of securities-lending 

transactions, will continue to be included in the fund’s Balance sheet during this period, since their economic advantages and 

disadvantages, in the form of investment income and changes in value, will be added to or deducted from the fund’s result. The way in 

which collateral ensuing from securities-lending transactions is reported depends on the nature of this collateral. If the collateral is 

received in the form of investments these are not recognized in the balance sheet as the economic advantages and disadvantages relating 

to the collateral will be for the account and risk of the counterparty. If the collateral is received in cash it will be recognized in the 

balance sheet as in this case the economic advantages and disadvantages will be for the account and risk of the fund.

Stock swaps 
Synthetic stock swaps are tailor-made products that offer investors the opportunity of realizing economic returns like those obtained with 

equity investments without actually investing in the underlying value. There are different ways of offering over-the-counter (OTC) 

equity exposure. Examples are warrants, notes, combinations of options and stock swaps. A stock swap is a tailor-made contract 

concluded between the investor and the swap seller that gives economic exposure to an underlying stock or associated security, stock

basket or index. With a swap contract, two parties agree to exchange the profit margin or the total returns on a specific stock. In a typical 

long-sides swap transaction for instance, the investor receives all the positive performance of the reference stock and pays for any 

negative performance plus interest based on the LIBOR rate.

Principles for determining the result 

General 
Investment results are determined by investment income, rises or declines in stock prices, rises or declines in foreign exchange rates and 

results of transactions in currencies, including forward transactions and other derivatives. Results are allocated to the period to which 

they relate and are accounted for in the profit and loss account.

Recognition of income 
Income items are recognized in the profit and loss account when an increase of the economic potential associated with an increase of an 

asset or a reduction of a liability has occurred and the amount of this can be reliably established.  

Recognition of expenses 
Expense items are recognized when a reduction of the economic potential associated with a reduction of an asset or an increase of a 

liability has occurred and the amount of this can be reliably established.

Investment income 
This includes the net cash dividends declared during the year under review, the nominal value of stock dividends declared, interest 

received and paid and proceeds. Accrued interest at balance sheet date is taken into account.

Payment for deposits and withdrawals 
The manager can charge a fee on entry or extension and on – partial – termination to cover the associated transaction costs to be 

deducted from the purchase resp. sales value. These fees, expressed as a percentage of the purchase resp. sales value, accrue to the fund 

and are processed in the profit and loss account. The fee thus determined can be requested from the manager.

Changes in value 
Realized and unrealized capital gains and losses on securities and currencies are presented under this heading. Realization of capital

gains takes place on selling as the difference between the realizable sales value and the average historical cost price. Unrealized capital 

gains relate to value changes in the portfolio between the beginning of the financial year and the balance sheet date, corrected by the 

realized gains when positions are sold or settlement takes place.

Principles for cash flow statement 

General 
This cash flow statement has been prepared using the indirect method. Cash comprises items that may or may not be directly callable.

Accounts payable to credit institutions include debit balances in bank accounts.
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Risk management 

The presence of risks is inherent to asset management. It is therefore very important to have a procedure for controlling these risks 

embedded in the company's day-to-day operations. The manager (RIAM) ensures that risks are effectively controlled via the three-lines-

of-defense model: RIAM management (first line), the Compliance and Risk Management departments (second line) and the Internal 

Audit department (third line).

The management of RIAM has primary responsibility for risk management as part of its day-to-day activities. The Compliance and Risk 

Management departments develop and maintain policy, methods and systems that enable the management to fulfill their responsibilities

relating to risk. Furthermore, portfolios are monitored by these departments to ensure that they remain within the investment restrictions 

under the Terms and Conditions for Management and Custody and the prospectus, and to establish whether they comply with the internal 

guidelines. The Risk Management Committee decides how the risk management policies are applied and monitors whether risks remain

within the defined limits. The Internal Audit department carries out audits to assess the effectiveness of internal control.

RIAM uses a risk-management and control framework that helps control all types of risk. Within this framework, risks are periodically 

identified and assessed as to their significance and materiality. Internal procedures and measures are focused on providing a structure to 

control both financial and operational risks. Control measures are included in the framework for each risk. Active monitoring is

performed to establish the effectiveness of the procedures and measures of this framework.

Operational risk 
Operational risk is the risk of loss as a result of inadequate or failing processes, people or systems. Robeco constantly seeks opportunities 

to simplify processes and reduce complexity in order to mitigate operational risks. Automation is a key resource in this regard and uses 

systems that can be seen as the market standard for financial institutions. The use of automation increases the risk associated with IT. 

This risk can be divided into three categories. The risk of access by unauthorized persons is managed using preventive and detective 

measures to control access to both the network and systems and data. Processes such as change management and operational 

management provide for monitoring of an operating system landscape. Finally, business continuity measures are in place to limit the risk 

of breakdown as far as possible and to recover operational status as quickly as possible in the event of a disaster. The effectiveness of 

these measures is tested periodically by means of internal and external monitoring.

Compliance risk 
Compliance risk is the risk of sanctions, financial loss or reputation damage as a result of non-compliance with the laws and regulations 

applicable to the activities of Robeco and the funds it manages. Robeco's activities – collective and individual portfolio management – 

are subject to European and national rules of financial supervision. Observance of these rules is supervised by the national competent 

authorities (in the Netherlands the Authority for the Financial Markets, AFM and the Central Bank of the Netherlands, DNB). It is in the 

interest of investors in Robeco-managed funds that Robeco complies with all the applicable laws and regulations. Robeco has 

implemented a meticulous process with clear responsibilities in order to ensure that new laws and regulations are reported and 

implemented in a timely fashion. 

Changes in the field of legislation and regulation that could affect the funds managed by Robeco also took place in 2019. An example of 

this is the amended Shareholder Rights Directive (SRD II), which applies as of 10 June 2019. SRD II requires institutional investors and 

asset managers to develop a policy on shareholder engagement and to disclose their voting and engagement policies in relation to its 

strategies covering EU listed equities. Necessary changes to Robeco’s existing policies on these topics have been implemented in a 

timely manner. Mandatory disclosures on these topics have been enhanced as well and these were made easily accessible to clients.

Robeco also ensured that its policies and procedures related to the prevention of use of the financial system for money laundering and the 

financing of terrorism continue to be adequately designed. In 2019 policies and procedures were amended to reflect the requirements of 

the Fifth Anti-Money Laundering Directive (5th AMLD). The amended Directive has introduced the obligation for Robeco to publicly

register the ultimate beneficial owners (‘UBOs’) of all its corporate entities and funds. For entities and funds domiciled in The 

Netherlands, necessary preparations have been made so that registrations can be made as soon as the UBO register is put into use. In 

addition, solid enhanced due diligence measures with respect to business relationships and transactions involving high risk countries

were implemented in accordance with the 5th AMLD.  

On 17 June 2019 EMIR Refit entered into force, amending the existing EMIR rules with the objective to simplify and increase the

efficiency of some of its requirements and to reduce disproportionate costs and burdens. The core EMIR requirements – clearing, margin 

requirements, derivative transaction reporting, operational risk mitigation requirements and requirements for trade repositories/CCPs – 

remain unchanged. For Robeco, the implementation of EMIR Refit in particular related to the introduction of a new category of financial 

counterparty known as the small financial counterparty (SFC). Such SFC - whose OTC derivatives positions do not exceed any of the

clearing thresholds - can under certain circumstances be exempted from the clearing obligation under EMIR. Robeco has decided not to 

benefit from such exemption and will continue clearing of the relevant instruments for all its funds.
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Risk management (continued) 

Developments Financial Risk Management 
Robeco is continuously working to enhance its risk management methodologies, infrastructure and processes.  

Over the past year, Financial Risk Management (FRM) continued with the modeling of climate risks and the integration of climate

models in the risk management framework and risk management systems. These models aim to incorporate both current carbon 

emissions as well as forward looking based elements, such as investments in carbon footprint reduction. These analyses are done based 

on RobecoSAM data. In addition, FRM is collaborating with its risk management system vendor to further complement the framework

with physical climate risks assets are exposed to, such as the risk of flooding, extreme heat waves or droughts. 

FRM has successfully enhanced and implemented tooling to conduct style factor analysis based on Barra factors. The results of these 

analyses and the climate risk results are both used in portfolio risk deep dive sessions with portfolio management.  

Securities lending is transferred to JPMorgan as the new lending agent. In 2019 risk management integrated securities lending data 

(collateral, securities) in the Robeco collateral management systems to have an integrated view on counterparty exposures.  

During the year several projects took place in which FRM participated. This included enhancement of the Model Risk Management, 

Brexit and a transition towards new benchmark rates (IBOR).

Risks relating to financial instruments 

Investment risk 
The value of investments may fluctuate. Past performance is no guarantee of future results. The net asset value of the fund depends on 

developments in the financial markets and can therefore either rise or fall. Shareholders run the risk that their investments may end up 

being worth less than the amount invested, or even worth nothing. The general investment risk can also be characterized as market risk.

Market risk 
Market risk can be divided into three types: price risk, currency risk and concentration risk. Market risks are contained using limits on 

quantitative risk measures such as tracking error, volatility or value-at-risk. This means that the underlying risk types (price risk, 

currency risk and concentration risk) are also indirectly contained.

Price risk 
The net asset value of the fund is sensitive to market movements. In addition, investors should be aware of the possibility that the value 

of investments may vary as a result of changes in political, economic or market circumstances, as well as changes in an individual 

business situation. The entire portfolio is exposed to price risk. The degree of price risk that the fund runs depends among other things on 

the risk profile of the fund's portfolio. More detailed information on the risk profile of the fund's portfolio can be found in the section on 

Return and risk on page 8.

Currency risk 
All or part of the securities portfolio of the fund may be invested in currencies, or financial instruments denominated in currencies other 

than the euro. As a result, fluctuations in exchange rates may have both a negative and a positive effect on the investment result of the 

fund. Currency risks may be hedged with currency forward transactions and currency options. Currency risks can be limited by applying 

relative or absolute currency concentration limits.
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Market risk (continued) 

Currency risk (continued)
As at the balance sheet date, there were no positions in currency forwards contracts.

The table below shows the gross and net exposure to the various currencies, including cash, receivables and debts. Further information 

on the currency policy can be found on page 8.

Currency exposure 

31/12/2019

Gross position

EUR' 000

31/12/2019

Net position 

EUR' 000

31/12/2019

% of

net assets

31/12/2018

% of

net assets

BRL 98,497 98,497 7.52 5.86

CNY 102,153 102,153 7.80 6.10

EUR 9,839 9,839 0.75 (0.21)

GBP 8 8 – –

HKD 208,858 208,858 15.95 20.35

HUF 13,702 13,702 1.05 0.95

IDR 42,637 42,637 3.25 4.20

INR 77,238 77,238 5.90 6.36

KRW 185,932 185,932 14.19 15.64

MXN 9,382 9,382 0.72 1.04

RUB 291 291 0.02 –

SAR 16,372 16,372 1.25 –

SGD 4,619 4,619 0.35 0.48

THB 16,347 16,347 1.25 1.46

TRY 6,777 6,777 0.52 –

TWD 150,083 150,083 11.46 11.39

USD 312,059 312,059 23.82 20.64

ZAR 54,993 54,993 4.20 5.74

Total 1,309,787 1,309,787 100.00 100.00

Concentration risk 
Based on its investment policy, the fund may invest in financial instruments from issuing institutions that operate mainly within the same 

sector or region, or in the same market. In the case of concentrated investment portfolios, events within the sectors, regions or markets in 

which they invest have a more pronounced effect on the fund assets than in less concentrated investment portfolios. Concentration risks 

can be limited by applying relative or absolute country or sector concentration limits.
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Market risk (continued) 

Concentration risk (continued)
The portfolio includes positions in stock market index futures at balance sheet date.

The table below shows the exposure to stock markets through stocks and stock market index futures per country in amounts and as a 

percentage of the fund's total equity capital.

Concentration risk by country 

31/12/2019 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Equities

EUR' 000

Exposure to 

stock index 

futures

EUR' 000

Total

exposure

EUR' 000

% of

net assets

% of

net assets

Bermuda 23,605 – 23,605 1.80 1.86

Brazil 126,893 – 126,893 9.69 8.58

Cayman Islands 174,320 – 174,320 13.31 9.62

China 206,910 – 206,910 15.79 17.00

Hong Kong 42,286 – 42,286 3.23 4.79

Hungary 13,702 – 13,702 1.05 0.95

India 116,490 – 116,490 8.90 9.15

Indonesia 42,637 – 42,637 3.26 4.21

Luxembourg 5,136 – 5,136 0.39 0.53

Mauritius 4,611 – 4,611 0.35 0.48

Mexico 16,510 – 16,510 1.26 1.63

Netherlands 12,429 – 12,429 0.95 –

Russia 82,865 – 82,865 6.32 4.92

Saudi Arabia 16,372 – 16,372 1.25 –

South Africa 54,907 – 54,907 4.20 5.75

South Korea 183,371 – 183,371 13.99 15.37

Taiwan 149,533 (20)1 149,513 11.41 11.40

Thailand 16,347 – 16,347 1.25 1.46

Turkey 6,776 – 6,776 0.52 –

Total 1,295,700 (20) 1,295,680 98.92 97.70

1 Index futures that cover multiple countries are listed under the country where the futures are traded. 

All outstanding futures have a remaining term of less than three months.
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Market risk (continued) 

Concentration risk (continued) 
The sector concentrations are shown below.

Concentration risk by sector 

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

% of net assets % of net assets

Communication Services 3.73 8.53

Consumer Discretionary 20.90 13.64

Consumer Staples 2.14 2.51

Energy 9.28 8.78

Financials 29.42 29.30

Health Care – 0.42

Industrials 2.71 4.03

Information Technology 18.92 18.43

Materials 6.03 7.36

Real Estate 2.95 2.93

Utilities 2.84 1.76

Other assets and liabilities 1.08 2.31

Total 100.00 100.00

Leverage risk 
The fund may make use of derivative instruments, techniques or structures. They may be used for hedging risks, and for achieving

investment objectives and ensuring efficient portfolio management. These instruments may be leveraged, which will increase the fund’s

sensitivity to market fluctuations. The risk of derivative instruments, techniques or structures will always be limited within the conditions 

of the fund's integral risk management. The degree of leveraged financing in the fund, measured using the gross method (where 0%

exposure indicates no leveraged financing) over the year, as well as on the balance sheet date, is shown in the table below. The gross 

method means that the absolute underlying value of the long positions and the short positions in derivatives are added up and represented 

as a percentage of the assets.

Lowest

exposure

during the

reporting year

Highest

exposure

during the 

reporting year

Average

exposure

during the

reporting year

Exposure at

the reporting

year end

Robeco Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds 1% 5% 1% 1%

Counterparty risk 
Counterparty risk is an unintentional form of risk that is a consequence of the investment policy. It occurs when a counterparty of the 

fund fails to fulfil its financial obligations arising from financial transactions with the fund. Counterparty risk is limited as far as possible 

by exercising an appropriate degree of caution in the selection of counterparties. In selecting counterparties, the assessments of 

independent rating bureaus are taken into account, as are other relevant indicators. Wherever it is customary in the market, the fund will 

demand and obtain collateral in order to mitigate counterparty risk. The figure that best represents the maximum credit risk is given in 

the table below. 

31/12/2019  31/12/2018  

EUR' 000

% of

net assets EUR' 000

% of

net assets

Unrealized gain on derivatives – – 56 0.01

Accounts receivable 4,928 0.38 4,086 0.42

Cash and cash equivalents 12,309 0.94 20,758 2.13

Total 17,237 1.32 24,900 2.56
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Counterparty risk (continued)
No account is taken of collateral received in the calculation of the total credit risk. Counterparty risk is contained by applying limits on 

the exposure per counterparty as a percentage of the fund assets. As at the balance sheet date there were no counterparties with an 

exposure of more than 5% of the fund's total assets.

Risk of lending financial instruments 
In the case of securities-lending transactions, collateral is requested and obtained for those financial instruments that are lent. In the case 

of securities-lending transactions, the fund incurs a specific type of counterparty risk that the borrower cannot comply with the obligation 

to return the financial instruments on the agreed date or to furnish the requested collateral. The lending policy of the fund is designed to 

control these risks as much as possible. To mitigate specific counterparty risk, the fund receives collateral prior to lending the financial 

instruments.

The creditworthiness of counterparties in securities-lending transactions is assessed on the basis of how independent rating agencies 

regard their short-term creditworthiness and on the basis of their net assets. Guarantees given by parent companies are also taken into 

account.

The fund accepts collateral in the form of:

    –   government bonds with a minimum investment grade1 credit rating;

    –   bonds of supranational bodies with a minimum investment grade1 credit rating;

    –   stocks listed on the main indexes of stock markets in OECD countries;

    –   stocks listed on the main indexes of stock markets in non-OECD countries;

    –   cash.

1 Credit rating designations BBB or above are considered investment grade.

In addition, concentration limits are applied to collateral to restrict concentration risks in the collateral and there are also liquidity criteria 

for containing the liquidity risks in the collateral. Finally, depending on the type of lending transaction and the type of collateral, 

collateral with a premium is requested relative to the value of the lending transaction. This limits the negative effects of price risks in the 

collateral.

The table below gives an overview of the positions lent out as a percentage of the portfolio (total of the instruments lent out) and relative 

to the fund's assets.

Positions lent out 

31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

Type of instrument 

Amount in

EUR' 000

% of

portfolio

% of

net assets

Amount in

EUR' 000

% of

portfolio

% of

net assets

Shares lent out 25,534 1.97 1.95 43,804 4.60 4.49

Total 25,534 1.97 1.95 43,804 4.60 4.49
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Risk of lending financial instruments (continued)
The following table gives an overview of the positions lent out and the collateral received per counterparty.

All outstanding lending transactions are transactions with an open-ended term. That means that there is no prior agreement as to how 

long the securities are lent out and when they may be reclaimed by the fund if required.

Counterparties       

   31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

Domicile of

counterparty 

Manner of 

settlement 

and clearing 

Positions lent 

out

EUR' 000

Collateral

received 

EUR' 000

Positions lent 

out

EUR' 000

Collateral

received 

EUR' 000

Barclays United Kingdom Tripartite1 1,550 1,677 – –

Citibank United States Tripartite1 2,357 2,677 171 188

Credit Suisse Switzerland Tripartite1 3,433 3,805 – –

Deutsche Bank Germany Tripartite1 2,086 2,421 19,543 21,838

HSBC Great Britain Tripartite1 14 18 9,501 10,782

J.P. Morgan United States Tripartite1 14,156 14,995 7,138 7,936

Macqarie Australia Tripartite1 – – 72 80

Morgan Stanley United States Tripartite1 58 64 2,597 2,888

UBS Switzerland Tripartite1 1,880 2,104 4,782 5,364

Total   25,534 27,761 43,804 49,076

1 Tripartite means that the collateral is in the custody of an independent third party.

This collateral is not included on the balance sheet. 
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Risk of lending financial instruments (continued) 
The table below contains a breakdown of collateral received according to type. All securities received have an open-ended term.

Collateral by type     

   31/12/2019 31/12/2018

 Currency

Rating of

government bonds

Market value in

EUR' 000

Market value in

EUR' 000

American Depository Receipt USD – 25,890

Cash USD 411 –

Government bonds EUR Investment grade 2,158 –

Government bonds GBP Investment grade 12,245 –

Government bonds USD Investment grade 493 –

Real-estate funds listed in non-OECD countries HKD 3 –

Real-estate funds listed in OECD countries USD 761 –

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries GBP 138 –

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries HKD 508 19,272

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries SGD 23 84

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries TWD – 2,799

Stocks listed in non-OECD countries USD 138 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries AUD 283 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries CAD 22 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries CHF 272 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries DKK 45 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries EUR 2,907 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries GBP 2,551 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries JPY 2,698 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries KRW – 1,031

Stocks listed in OECD countries SEK 93 –

Stocks listed in OECD countries USD 2,012 –

Total 27,761 49,076

J.P. Morgan has been appointed custodian of all collateral received. The securities are managed by RIAM and are held on separate

accounts per counterparty. In line with the provisions in the prospectus, the collateral received has not been reinvested.

J.P. Morgan is the intermediary for all of the fund’s securities-lending transactions. As compensation for its services, J.P. Morgan

receives a fee of (A) 25% of the gross income on these securities-lending transactions for loans which generates a return of 0.5% or less 

and (B) 10% of the gross income from these securities-lending transactions for any loans which generate a return greater than 0.5%. An 

external agency periodically assesses whether the agreements between the fund and J.P. Morgan are still in line with the market. The 

fund's revenues and J.P. Morgan & RIAM's fee are included in the following table.

Income from securities lending       

2019 2018 

Gross

revenues in

EUR' 000

Fee paid to

J.P. Morgan in

EUR' 000

Net fund 

revenues in

EUR' 000

Gross

revenues in

EUR' 000

Fee paid to

RIAM /

J.P. Morgan in 

EUR' 000

Net fund 

revenues in 

EUR' 000

Shares lent out 143 24 119 183 56 127

Total 143 24 119 183 56 127

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is an unintentional form of risk that is a consequence of the investment policy. Liquidity risk occurs when financial 

instruments cannot be sold in a timely fashion unless additional costs are incurred. Liquidity risk can be divided into two categories: exit 

risk and the liquidity risk of financial instruments.
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Risks relating to financial instruments (continued) 

Liquidity risk (continued) 

Exit risk 
Exit risks occur when the fund's value is negatively affected by the exit of one or more clients, with negative consequences for existing 

clients. The extent to which the value of the fund can be negatively affected depends on the liquidity of the financial instruments in the 

portfolio, and on the concentration of clients. An exit charge is made to cover the exit costs in order to prevent exits having a negative 

effect on the fund.

Liquidity risk of financial instruments 
The actual buying and selling prices of financial instruments in which the fund invests partly depend upon the liquidity of the financial 

instruments in question. It is possible that a position taken on behalf of the fund cannot be quickly liquidated at a reasonable price due to 

a lack of liquidity in the market in terms of supply and demand. To limit this risk, the fund invests almost entirely in financial

instruments that can be traded daily, so the liquidity risk of financial instruments occurring under normal circumstances does not occur. 

Moreover, liquidity risks of financial instruments are contained using limits on the non-liquid portion of the securities portfolio.

Manager
Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. (“RIAM”) is the fund manager. In this capacity, RIAM handles the asset management, 

administration, marketing and distribution of the fund. RIAM holds an AIFMD license as referred to in Section 2:65 Wft. In addition, 

RIAM is licensed as a manager of UCITS (2:69b Wft, the Dutch Financial Supervision Act), which includes managing individual assets 

and giving advice on financial instruments. RIAM is subject to supervision by the Dutch Authority for the Financial Markets (Stichting 

Autoriteit Financiële Markten, “AFM”). RIAM has listed the fund with AFM. RIAM is a 100% subsidiary of ORIX Corporation Europe 

N.V. via Robeco Holding B.V. ORIX Corporation Europe N.V. is a part of ORIX Corporation.

Custodian
The assets of the fund are held in custody by J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A., Amsterdam Branch. J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg 

S.A., Amsterdam Branch is appointed as the custodian of the fund as referred to in Section 4:62n Wft. The custodian is responsible for 

supervising the fund insofar as required under and in accordance with the applicable legislation. The manager, the fund and J.P. Morgan 

Bank Luxembourg S.A., Amsterdam Branch have concluded a custody agreement.

Liability of the custodian 
The custodian is liable to the fund and/or the participants for the loss of a financial instrument under the custody of the custodian or of a 

third party to which custody has been transferred. The custodian is not liable if it can demonstrate that the loss is a result of an external 

event over which it in all reasonableness had no control and of which the consequences were unavoidable, despite all efforts to

ameliorate them. The custodian is also liable to the fund and/or the participants for all other losses they suffer because the custodian has 

not fulfilled its obligations as stated in this custodial agreement either deliberately or through negligence. Participants may make an 

indirect claim upon the liability of the custodian through the manager. If the manager refuses to entertain such a request, the

participants are authorized to submit the claim for losses directly to the custodian.

Affiliated parties 
The fund and the manager may utilize the services of and carry out transactions with parties affiliated to the fund, as defined in the BGfo, 

such as RIAM, Robeco Nederland B.V and ORIX Corporation. The services entail the execution of tasks that have been outsourced to

these parties such as (1) securities lending, (2) hiring temporary staff and (3) issuance and repurchase of the fund’s shares. Transactions 

that can be carried out with affiliated parties include the following: treasury management, derivatives transactions, lending of financial 

instruments, credit extension, purchase and sale of financial instruments on regulated markets or through multilateral trading facilities. 

All these services and transactions are executed at market rates.
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Notes to the balance sheet 

1. Equities 

Movements in the stock portfolio 

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Book value (fair value) at opening date 952,044 1,110,106

Purchases 231,605 231,431

Sales (142,657) (242,232)

Unrealized gains / (losses) 241,194 (216,203)

Realized gains 13,514 68,942

Book value (fair value) at closing date 1,295,700 952,044

EUR 12,514 thousand of the realized and unrealized results on the equity portfolio relates to exchange rate differences.

A breakdown of this portfolio is given under Schedule of Investments. A sub-division into regions and sectors is provided under the 

information on concentration risk under the information on Risks relating to financial instruments.

Transaction costs 
Brokerage costs and exchange fees relating to investment transactions are discounted in the cost price or the sales value of the investment 

transactions. These costs and fees are charged to the result ensuing from changes in value. The quantifiable transaction costs are shown 

below.

2019 2018

EUR' 000 EUR' 000

Equities 460 626

Futures 16 13

RIAM wants to be certain that the selection of counterparties for equity transactions (brokers) occurs using procedures and criteria that 

ensure the best results for the fund (best execution).

No costs for research were charged to the fund during the reporting period.

2. Derivatives 

Movements in derivatives 

Financial future contracts 

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Book value (fair value) at opening date 56 –

Purchases – 601

Sales (2,725) –

Unrealized (losses) / gains (76) 56

Realized gains / (losses) 2,725 (601)

Book value (fair value) at closing date (20) 56

The realized and unrealized results on derivatives do not contain any exchange rate differences.
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2. Derivatives (continued)

The presentation of derivatives on the balance sheet is based on the liabilities and receivables per contract.

Presentation of derivatives in the balance sheet 

Assets Liabilities Total 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

 EUR' 000 EUR' 000 EUR' 000 EUR' 000 EUR' 000 EUR' 000

Financial Futures Contract – 56 20 – (20) 56

Book value (fair value) at closing date – 56 20 – (20) 56

The breakdown according to region for futures is given under the information on concentration risk under the information on risks 

relating to financial instruments 

3. Dividend receivable 

These are receivables arising from net dividends declared but not yet received.

4. Interest receivable 

This concerns interest receivable on cash and cash equivalents. 

5. Other receivables, prepayments and accrued income 

This concerns:

31/12/2019

EUR' 000

31/12/2018

EUR' 000

Dividend tax to be reclaimed 86 –

Sub-total (investment activities) 86 –

Total 86 –

6. Cash and cash equivalents 

This concerns:

31/12/2019

EUR' 000

31/12/2018

EUR' 000

Freely available cash 12,035 20,118

Other cash not freely accessible 274 640

Total 12,309 20,758

7. Payable to credit institutions 

This relates to temporary debit balances on bank accounts caused by investment transactions.

8. Payable to affiliated parties 

This concerns the following payables to RIAM:

31/12/2019

EUR' 000

31/12/2018

EUR' 000

Payable for management fee 2,469 1,943

Total 2,469 1,943
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9. Other liabilities, accruals and deferred income 

This concerns: 

31/12/2019

EUR' 000

31/12/2018

EUR' 000

Costs payable 155 136

Sub-total (investment activities) 155 136

Total 155 136

10. Fund assets 

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Development of fund assets 

Participants capital Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds 

Situation on opening date 674,106 665,394

Received on participating units issued 83,307 58,225

Paid for participating units repurchased (9,770) (49,513)

Situation on closing date 747,643 674,106

General reserve 

Situation on opening date 429,301 226,959

Addition of result in previous financial year (149,973) 202,342

Situation on closing date 279,328 429,301

Undistributed earnings 

Situation on opening date (128,860) 227,157

Net result 282,816 (128,860)

Distributed to holders of participating units (21,113) (24,815)

Addition to the general reserve 149,973 (202,342)

Situation on closing date 282,816 (128,860)

Situation on closing date 1,309,787 974,547

11. Fund assets, participating units outstanding and net asset value per participating unit 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2017

Assets in EUR' 000 1,309,787 974,547 1,119,510

Number of participating units outstanding 9,619,291 9,024,046 8,919,222

Net asset value per participating unit in EUR 136.16 107.99 125.52
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Notes to the profit and loss account 

Income 

12. Investment income 

This concerns: 

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Dividends received* 34,181 27,150

Interest 530 121

Net revenues from securities lending 119 127

Total 34,830 27,398

* This concerns net dividends received. Factored into this amount as withholding tax reclaimable from the country that withheld the tax plus withholding tax that is subject to a remittance 

reduction from the Dutch tax authorities. The remittance reduction is offset against the dividend tax payable on dividends distributed by the fund. 

Costs 

13. Management fee and service fee 

The management fee and service fee are charged by the manager. The fees are calculated daily on the basis of the fund assets.

Management fee and service fee specified in the information memorandum 

Institutional Emerging

Markets Fund

%

Management fee 0.80

The management fee is used to pay for all the costs arising from the management and marketing of the fund, as well as costs of 

administration, external advisors, supervisors and costs relating to statutory reporting including annual and semi-annual reporting and the 

costs of holding participants’ meetings. The costs paid for the external auditor relate exclusively to audit-related costs and amount over 

the financial year to EUR 10 thousand. If the manager outsources operations to third parties, any costs associated with this will also be 

paid from the management fee. 

14. Performance fee 

Robeco Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds is not subject to a performance fee.

15. Other costs 

This concerns:

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Custody fee 278 364

Bank charges – 77

Other costs relating to own shares – 35

Depositary fee 47 74

Auditing costs 10 6

Total 335 556
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Notes to the profit and loss account (continued) 

Costs (continued) 

16. Ongoing charges 

2019

%

2018

%

Management fee 0.80 0.80

Other costs 0.03 0.05

Prorportion of income on securities lending payable 0.00 0.01

Total 0.83 0.86

The percentage of ongoing charges is based on the average assets. The average assets are calculated on a daily basis. The ongoing

charges include all costs charged to the share classes in the reporting period, excluding the costs of transactions in financial instruments 

and interest charges. The ongoing charges do not include any payment of entry or exit costs charged by distributors.

The proportion of securities-lending income payable as defined in the Information on the Risks of lending Financial Instruments on page 

25 is included separately in the ongoing charges.

17. Maximum costs 

For some cost items, the fund's prospectus specifies a maximum percentage of average net assets. The table below compares these

maximum percentages with the costs actually charged.

2019

EUR' 000

2019 % of

net assets

Maximum as 

specified in the

information

memorandum

Management fee for Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds  9,238 0.80 0.80

Custody fee and bank cost 278 0.02 0.10

Depositary fee 47 0.01 0.01

Auditing cost 10 0.00 EUR 10,000

18. Turnover rate 

The turnover rate for the reporting period was 25% (for the previous reporting period it was 35%). This rate shows the rate at which the 

fund's portfolio is turned over and is a measure of the incurred transaction costs resulting from the portfolio policy pursued and the 

ensuing investment transactions. The turnover rate is determined by expressing the amount of the turnover as a percentage of the average 

fund assets. The average fund assets are calculated on a daily basis. The amount of the turnover is determined by the sum of the

purchases and sales of investments less the sum of issuance and repurchase of own shares. The sum of issues and repurchases of own

participating units is determined as the balance of all issues and repurchases in the fund. Cash and money-market investments with an 

original life to maturity of less than one month are not taken into account in the calculation.

19. Transactions with affiliated parties 

Part of the transaction volume over the reporting period relates to transactions with affiliated parties. The table below shows the various 

types of transactions where this was the case.

2019 2018 

 Counterparty % %

Securities lending transactions RIAM – 75.49

During the reporting period the Fund paid RIAM the following amounts in management fee: 

Counterparty 

2019

EUR' 000

2018

EUR' 000

Management fee RIAM 9,238 8,314
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Notes to the profit and loss account (continued) 

Costs (continued) 

20. Fiscal status 

The fund has the status of a fiscal investment institution. A detailed description of its fiscal status is included in the general information 

of the management report on page 4.

21. Proposed profit appropriation 

For the financial year 2019, dividend distribution will take place on the basis of the fiscal result in order to fulfill the fiscal distribution 

obligation. It is proposed to establish the dividend for the financial year 2019 at EUR 27.1 million (previous year EUR 21.1 million). The 

dividend per participating unit will be determined by dividing the dividend amount by the number of participating units outstanding on 

19 June 2020. 

The Net Asset Value "NAV" per participating unit will be quoted ex-dividend as of the dealing day 22 June 2020. The NAV per share of 

the dealing day 22 June 2020 will be published on 23 June 2020. In conformity with the Terms and Conditions of Management and 

Custody, the net dividend (after deducting 15% dividend tax) will be automatically re-invested on the distribution date unless 

participants have indicated to choose payment by means of a request to this effect. 

22. Subsequent events 

Market Impact Covid-19 

Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. considers the COVID-19 (Corona) Pandemic as a significant event after closing the 

Annual Reports 2019 of the Investment Funds under management. The impact of the pandemic on people, companies and the economy 

at large cannot be assessed in full depth at this stage. However, the impact may have a downward effect on the performance. Measures to 

mitigate the immediate operational risks are in place. Additional measures are dependent on our own assessments and the response of the 

authorities. 

Our operational measures for business continuity 

In response to the Covid-19 outbreak, Robeco is constantly monitoring the latest developments and has taken all measures necessary to 

manage the situation and to ensure business continuity. Our operational measures and capabilities are such that Robeco remains fully 

functional in managing client portfolios and serving clients. Our systems and platforms are designed to enable our staff, most of whom 

are working from home, to operate as normal. Our approach is one of vigilance and flexibility, allowing us to implement new or revised 

measures smoothly and as necessary to ensure the health and safety of our staff while maintaining business continuity. 
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Currency table 

Exchange rates 

31/12/2019

    EUR = 1 

31/12/2018

    EUR = 1 

BRL 4.5155 4.4215

CNY 7.8190 7.8506

GBP 0.8473 0.9014

HKD 8.7463 8.9534

HUF 330.7100 321.5550

IDR 15,583.1062 16,648.6318

INR 80.1220 80.1044

KRW 1,298.1151 1,275.8615

MXN 21.1973 22.4405

MYR 4.5916 4.7482

PLN 4.2512 4.3055

RUB 69.7199 79.5383

SAR 4.2108 4.2897

SGD 1.5094 1.5619

THB 33.6231 37.2307

TRY 6.6800 6.0255

TWD 33.6492 35.1462

USD 1.1225 1.1434

ZAR 15.6965 16.4335



Robeco Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds 36

Schedule of Investments 
As at 31 December 2019 

Investments Currency

Quantity/

Nominal

Value

Market 

Value

EUR' 000

% of Net 

Assets

Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing 

 Equities 

Bermuda 

Credicorp Ltd. USD 80,571 15,298 1 .17

Kunlun Energy Co. Ltd. HKD 6,404,000 5,037 0 .38

Pacific Basin Shipping Ltd. HKD 17,440,800 3,270 0 .25

23,605 1 .80

Brazil 

Banco do Brasil SA BRL 2,017,200 23,596 1 .80

CCR SA BRL 2,264,000 9,516 0 .73

Cogna Educacao BRL 1,949,500 4,935 0 .38

Cosan SA BRL 530,100 8,167 0 .62

CPFL Energia SA BRL 837,100 6,590 0 .50

Cyrela Brazil Realty SA Empreendimentos e Participacoes BRL 1,016,900 6,686 0 .51

Engie Brasil Energia SA BRL 906,425 10,197 0 .78

Gerdau SA, ADR Preference USD 658,798 2,876 0 .22

Itausa - Investimentos Itau SA Preference BRL 7,349,940 22,935 1 .75

Marfrig Global Foods SA BRL 2,481,000 5,472 0 .42

Petroleo Brasileiro SA, ADR Preference USD 1,950,265 25,923 1 .98

126,893 9 .69

Cayman Islands 

Alibaba Group Holding Ltd., ADR USD 547,911 103,529 7 .90

China State Construction International Holdings Ltd. HKD 5,438,000 4,402 0 .34

Dali Foods Group Co. Ltd., Reg. S HKD 9,059,500 5,977 0 .46

ENN Energy Holdings Ltd. HKD 1,574,800 15,332 1 .17

Shimao Property Holdings Ltd. HKD 4,672,483 16,133 1 .23

Vipshop Holdings Ltd., ADR USD 1,343,575 16,961 1 .30

WH Group Ltd., Reg. S HKD 13,023,000 11,986 0 .91

174,320 13 .31

China 

Anhui Conch Cement Co. Ltd. 'A' CNY 3,011,801 21,109 1 .61

BBMG Corp. 'H' HKD 6,429,000 1,757 0 .14

China Construction Bank Corp. 'H' HKD 55,208,791 42,481 3 .24

China Merchants Bank Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 5,202,172 23,821 1 .82

China National Building Material Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 7,688,000 7,647 0 .58

China Petroleum & Chemical Corp. 'H' HKD 18,623,420 9,986 0 .76

CRRC Corp. Ltd. 'H' HKD 17,223,150 11,185 0 .85

Gree Electric Appliances, Inc. of Zhuhai 'A' CNY 1,692,132 14,193 1 .08

Haier Smart Home Co. Ltd. 'A' CNY 6,080,859 15,165 1 .16

PICC Property & Casualty Co. Ltd. 'H' HKD 7,421,830 7,968 0 .61

Ping An Insurance Group Co. of China Ltd. 'A' CNY 3,522,416 38,499 2 .94

SAIC Motor Corp. Ltd. 'A' CNY 4,294,332 13,099 1 .00

206,910 15 .79

Hong Kong 

China Mobile Ltd. HKD 2,636,100 19,741 1 .51
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Schedule of Investments (continued) 
As at 31 December 2019 

Investments Currency

Quantity/

Nominal

Value

Market 

Value

EUR' 000

% of Net 

Assets

Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

 Equities (continued) 

Hong Kong (continued) 

China Overseas Land & Investment Ltd. HKD 6,496,950 22,545 1 .72

42,286 3 .23

Hungary 

OTP Bank Nyrt. HUF 293,666 13,702 1 .05

13,702 1 .05

India

Axis Bank Ltd. INR 1,766,629 16,627 1 .27

Grasim Industries Ltd. INR 554,557 5,147 0 .39

HCL Technologies Ltd. INR 2,722,622 19,304 1 .48

ICICI Bank Ltd., ADR USD 1,495,064 20,098 1 .53

Infosys Ltd., ADR USD 2,083,332 19,154 1 .46

Mahindra & Mahindra Ltd. INR 1,373,898 9,115 0 .70

Petronet LNG Ltd. INR 1,862,855 6,230 0 .48

REC Ltd. INR 3,581,586 6,397 0 .49

State Bank of India INR 3,461,229 14,418 1 .10

116,490 8 .90

Indonesia 

Bank Rakyat Indonesia Persero Tbk. PT IDR 84,254,800 23,790 1 .82

Matahari Department Store Tbk. PT IDR 17,052,700 4,607 0 .35

Telekomunikasi Indonesia Persero Tbk. PT IDR 55,895,200 14,240 1 .09

42,637 3 .26

Luxembourg 

Ternium SA, ADR USD 262,062 5,136 0 .39

5,136 0 .39

Mauritius 

Golden Agri-Resources Ltd. SGD 29,615,183 4,611 0 .35

4,611 0 .35

Mexico 

Grupo Aeroportuario del Sureste SAB de CV, ADR USD 42,702 7,129 0 .54

Grupo Financiero Banorte SAB de CV 'O' MXN 1,882,100 9,381 0 .72

16,510 1 .26

Netherlands 

Prosus NV EUR 186,813 12,429 0 .95

12,429 0 .95

Russia 

Gazprom PJSC, ADR USD 2,206,590 16,174 1 .23

LUKOIL PJSC, ADR USD 277,497 24,519 1 .87
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Schedule of Investments (continued) 
As at 31 December 2019 

Investments Currency

Quantity/

Nominal

Value

Market 

Value

EUR' 000

% of Net 

Assets

Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

 Equities (continued) 

Russia (continued) 

MMC Norilsk Nickel PJSC USD 39,445 10,807 0 .83

Novatek PJSC, Reg. S, GDR USD 80,513 14,561 1 .11

Sberbank of Russia PJSC Preference USD 2,176,004 7,125 0 .54

Sberbank of Russia PJSC USD 2,649,096 9,679 0 .74

82,865 6 .32

Saudi Arabia 

Al Rajhi Bank SAR 573,971 8,915 0 .68

National Commercial Bank SAR 637,601 7,457 0 .57

16,372 1 .25

South Africa 

Absa Group Ltd. ZAR 876,056 8,333 0 .64

MultiChoice Group ZAR 930,359 6,905 0 .53

Naspers Ltd. 'N' ZAR 271,813 39,669 3 .03

54,907 4 .20

South Korea 

Hana Financial Group, Inc. KRW 517,988 14,724 1 .12

Hyundai Mobis Co. Ltd. KRW 54,441 10,736 0 .82

Hyundai Motor Co. KRW 90,759 8,425 0 .64

LG Chem Ltd. Preference KRW 31,007 4,132 0 .32

LG Chem Ltd. KRW 20,454 5,003 0 .38

Lotte Chemical Corp. KRW 33,749 5,824 0 .44

Mando Corp. KRW 219,885 5,963 0 .45

NCSoft Corp. KRW 19,088 7,955 0 .61

POSCO KRW 52,639 9,590 0 .73

Samsung Electronics Co. Ltd. Preference KRW 489,600 17,123 1 .31

Samsung Electronics Co. Ltd. KRW 1,257,976 54,075 4 .13

Shinhan Financial Group Co. Ltd. KRW 499,116 16,668 1 .27

SK Hynix, Inc. KRW 319,404 23,153 1 .77

183,371 13 .99

Taiwan 

China Life Insurance Co. Ltd. TWD 6,634,313 5,048 0 .39

Evergreen Marine Corp. Taiwan Ltd. TWD 1 – –

Fubon Financial Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 9,540,000 13,155 1 .00

Giant Manufacturing Co. Ltd. TWD 570,599 3,612 0 .27

Mega Financial Holding Co. Ltd. TWD 8,784,812 7,989 0 .61

Merida Industry Co. Ltd. TWD 892,560 4,682 0 .36

Primax Electronics Ltd. TWD 3,778,000 7,118 0 .54

Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Co. Ltd. TWD 9,383,304 92,302 7 .05

Tripod Technology Corp. TWD 1,685,000 6,285 0 .48

Vanguard International Semiconductor Corp. TWD 3,964,000 9,342 0 .71

149,533 11 .41
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Schedule of Investments (continued) 
As at 31 December 2019 

Investments Currency

Quantity/

Nominal

Value

Market 

Value

EUR' 000

% of Net 

Assets

Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing (continued) 

 Equities (continued) 

Thailand 

Bangkok Bank PCL, NVDR THB 1,489,000 7,086 0 .54

PTT PCL, NVDR THB 7,077,000 9,261 0 .71

16,347 1 .25

Turkey 

Tupras Turkiye Petrol Rafinerileri A/S TRY 356,985 6,776 0 .52

6,776 0 .52

Total Equities 1,295,700 98 .92

Total Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to an official exchange listing 1,295,700 98 .92

       

Total Investments 1,295,700 98 .92

Cash 12,309 0.94

Other Assets/(Liabilities) 1,778 0.14

Total Net Assets 1,309,787 100.00

Financial Futures Contracts 

Security Description 

Number of

Contracts Currency

Unrealised 

Gain/(Loss)

EUR' 000
% of Net 

Assets

MSCI Taiwan Index, 30/01/2020 250 USD  (20) –

Total Unrealised Loss on Financial Futures Contracts - Liabilities  (20) –

Net Unrealised Loss on Financial Futures Contracts - Liabilities  (20) –

Rotterdam, 15 May 2020 

The Manager 

Robeco Institutional Asset Management B.V. 

Policymakers RIAM: 

Gilbert O.J.M. Van Hassel  

Karin van Baardwijk 

Peter J.J. Ferket 

Mark C.W. den Hollander  

Martin O. Nijkamp 

Hans-Christoph von Reiche 

Victor Verberk 

Lia Belilos-Wessels    
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KPMG Accountants N.V., registered with the trade register in the Netherlands under number 33263683, is a member firm of the 

KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (‘KPMG International’), a Swiss entity.

Independent auditor's report

To: the General Meeting and manager of Robeco Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds

Report on the accompanying financial statements

Our opinion

We have audited the financial statements 2019 of Robeco Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds
(hereafter: 'the fund'), based in Rotterdam.

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of Robeco Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds as at 31 December 2019, and of its 
result for 2019 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The financial statements comprise:

1 the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019;

2 the profit and loss account for 2019; and

3 the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on 
Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Our 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements' section of our report.

We are independent of Robeco Institutioneel Emerging Markets Fonds in accordance with the 
Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the 'Verordening inzake 
de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten' (ViO, Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant 
independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the
'Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants' (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.

Report on the other information included in the annual report

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, the annual report contains 
other information that consists of:

— Report by the manager;

— Schedule of Investments;

— other information pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code;

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:

— is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements;

— contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
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We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained 
through our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other 
information contains material misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is less 
than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.

Description of the responsibilities for the financial statements

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, management is 
responsible for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
errors or fraud.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework 
mentioned, management should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the fund or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. Management should disclose events and circumstances 
that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern in the 
financial statements.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain 
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we 
may not have detected all material errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or errors and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of the financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of 
our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism 
throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and 
independence requirements. Our audit included e.g.:

— identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to errors or fraud, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from errors, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;
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— obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the fund's internal control;

— evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management;

— concluding on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the fund's ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the company ceasing to continue as a going concern;

— evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures; and

— evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
findings in internal control that we identify during our audit.

15 May 2020

KPMG Accountants N.V.

G.J. Hoeve RA


